FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 5/24/2021 11:18 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/25/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. \_99809-4

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 79923-1-I

| IN TH | HE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON                                  |
|-------|--|
|       |  |
|       | STATE OF WASHINGTON,   |
|       | Respondent,  |
|       | v.   |
|       | RICARDO MIRELES, JR.,  |
|       | Petitioner.  |
|       |  |
| (     | ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY |
|       | The Honorable Averil Rothrock, Judge   |
|       | The Honorable Ken Schubert, Judge  |
|       | PETITION FOR REVIEW  |

#### B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) when the reasoning employed by the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court?<sup>1</sup>
- 2. Is review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3) when RCW 9.61.260 criminalizes protected speech without being narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling government interest, rendering the statute unconstitutional under the First Amendment and article I, section 5?
- 3. Is review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) when RCW 9.61.260 impermissibly criminalizes a substantial amount of protected speech, particularly via electronic communications, presenting an issue of substantial and increasing public interest in our digital age?

-1-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Williams, 144 Wn. 2d 197, 26 P.3d 890 (2001).

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Mireles was convicted by jury of one count of felony harassment and one count of felony cyberstalking. CP 44-45. At issue here is Mr. Mireles's felony cyberstalking conviction. The charge arose from allegations that Mr. Mireles used electronic means (text messages) to communicate threats to kill his ex-girlfriend. RP 525.

Mr. Mireles moved to dismiss count II before trial began, arguing the crime of cyberstalking as defined in RCW 9.61.260 was unconstitutionally overbroad. RP 244. Relying on Rynearson v. Ferguson,<sup>2</sup> Mr. Mireles argued that the cyberstalking statute sweeps within its reach constitutionally protected speech and that as long as part of the statute criminalizes protected speech, none of the statute can be enforced. RP 246. Holding that State v. Stanley,<sup>3</sup> an unpublished decision, had directly addressed the issue, the trial court denied the motion. RP 251-52.

Mr. Mireles appealed and argued that RCW 9.61.260 was overbroad and facially invalid. Br. of Appellant at 24-38. He did not dispute the constitutionality of the statute as applied to his own conduct. Instead, he argued that a substantial number of the cyberstalking statute's potential applications restrict protected speech, that the statute's restrictions on speech

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 355 F. Supp. 3d 964 (W.D. Wash. 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Noted at 200 Wn. App. 1035, 2017 WL 3868480 (2017).

based on its content could not satisfy strict scrutiny, and that portions of RCW 9.61.260 could not be logically severed or construed to avoid its facial invalidity. Br. of Appellant at 24-42.

In upholding the statute's constitutionality but for the term "embarrass"—which it struck from RCW 9.61.260(1)—the Court of Appeals concluded that "the intent requirement of the cyberstalking statute sufficiently limits the statutes [sic] reach to conduct." Appendix A at 12-13. Rather than punishing the content of speech, the court attempted to reason, the statute punishes "the selection of a victim and directing the speech in such a way as to cause a specific harm to them." Appendix A at 12. The court inaptly relied in large part on general language from Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 535 (2003), State v. Dyson, 74 Wn. App. 237, 872 P.2d 1115 (1994), and State v. Talley, 122 Wn.2d 192, 858 P.2d 217 (1993). Appendix A at 9-12.

Mr. Mireles moved for reconsideration on March 29, 2021, which the Court of Appeals denied on April 22, 2021. Appendix B.

#### D. <u>ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW</u>

1. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS IS IN CONFLICT WITH *STATE v. WILLIAMS*,<sup>4</sup> A DECISION OF THIS COURT

The Court of Appeals concluded that "the intent requirement of the cyberstalking statute sufficiently limits the [cyberstalking] statutes [sic] reach to conduct" rather than punishing the content of speech. Appendix A at 12. The court reasoned that the statute "punishes not the content of the speech, but the selection of the victim and directing the speech in such a way to cause a specific harm to them." Appendix A at 12.

The Washington Supreme Court, however, has held that even a statute prohibiting malicious threats to commit an act intended to substantially harm a person's mental health is a content-based restriction on speech and thus subject to strict scrutiny. Williams, 144 Wn.2d at 207. The harassment statute also punishes the "selection of a victim and directing speech in such a way as to cause specific harm[,]" speech much more alarming than that prohibited by RCW 9.61.260(1)(a) and (b). Still, the Williams court decided that even alarming threats not constituting true threats are protected speech subject to strict scrutiny analysis. 144 Wn.2d at 208. Agreeing with amici, the Williams court found that "[s]peech is protected, even though it may advocate action which is highly alarming to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 144 Wn.2d at 206-211.

the target of the communication, unless it fits under the category of a 'true threat.'" <u>Id.</u>

One cannot determine the intent of the communicator without looking to the content of the communication, and one certainly cannot categorize electronic communication as "lewd, lascivious, indecent, or obscene words, images, or language" without examining the content of the communication. RCW 9.61.260(1)(a). To the extent it regulates speech not constituting a true threat, the cyberstalking statutes is a content-based regulation and the Court of Appeals holding to the contrary is in conflict with the Washington Supreme Court's decision in <u>Williams</u>. RAP 13.4(b)(1) should be granted due to this conflict.

- 2. WHETHER RCW 9.61.260 IMPERMISSIBLY CRIMINALIZES PROTECTED SPEECH IS A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION UNDER BOTH STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS
  - a. The decision of the Court of Appeals runs afoul of well-established United States Supreme Court jurisprudence.

In an overbreadth challenge under article 1, section 5, Washington's analysis aligns with that taken under the First Amendment. See State v. Bradburn, 168 Wn.2d 789, 801, 231 P.3d 166 (2010).

The Court of Appeals opinion does not address how the cyberstalking statute's criminalization of broad categories of unpleasant speech, including public speech, squares with United States Supreme

Court authority that "[s]peech is often provocative and challenging . . . [But it] is nevertheless protected against censorship or punishment, unless shown likely to produce a clear and present danger of a serious substantive evil that rises far above public inconvenience, annoyance, or unrest." City of Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451, 459, 107 S. Ct. 2502, 96 L. Ed. 2d 398 (1987) (second and third alterations in original) (quoting Terminiello v. City of Chicago, 337 U.S. 1, 4, 69 S. Ct. 894, 93 L. Ed. 1131 (1949)); accord Lewis v. City of New Orleans, 415 U.S. 130, 133, 94 S. Ct. 970, 39 L. Ed. 2d 214 (1974) (ordinance punishing speech not limited to fighting words invalidated as facially overbroad).

Criminalizing lewd, indecent, repetitive, or anonymous speech made with caustic intent toward a person—without regard to whether the speech constitutes a true threat or whether the speech tends to incite an immediate breach of peace—does not meet the strict threshold for regulating speech long established by United States Supreme Court precedent. The decision of the Court of Appeals runs contrary to United States Supreme Court authority on a constitutional question such that review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

b. In erroneously concluding that the cyberstalking statute regulates merely conduct and not speech, the Court of Appeals failed to meaningfully consider the constitutionality of the statute's clear regulation of speech, a significant question of constitutional law that should be considered by the Washington Supreme Court

The cyberstalking statute regulates speech, not merely conduct. RCW 9.61.260. In concluding otherwise, the Court of Appeals inaptly relies on State v. Talley. 122 Wn.2d 192, 858 P.2d 217 (1999). Appendix A at 11-12. Talley recognized that the legislature had expressly limited the reach of the malicious harassment statute, RCW 9A.36.080, distinguishing it from the reach of an overbroad statute like RCW 9.61.260. Talley, 122 Wn.2d at 202. To ensure that the statute regulated conduct only and did not implicate speech, the Talley court correctly noted that the statute itself limited its application to conduct:

However, it does not constitute malicious harassment for a person to speak or act in a critical, insulting, or deprecatory way unless the context or circumstances surrounding the words or conduct places another person *in reasonable fear of harm to his or her person or property or harm to the person or property of a third person* . . . [.]

122 Wn. 2d at 202 (emphasis added) (quoting RCW 9A.36.080(1)(b)). "As is evident in the statute itself, the Legislature ensured that, absent criminal conduct, bigoted speech and thought are protected." <u>Talley</u>, 122 Wn.2d at 211.

In contrast, the cyberstalking statute criminalizes a person communicating in a public or private electronic forum in a lewd way, in an indecent way, in a way that suggests lewd or indecent acts, or in an anonymous or repeated way, as long as the speaker has a caustic intent toward another. RCW 9.61.260(1)(a)-(b). Unlike in <u>Talley</u> and with the harassment statute, the cyberstalking statute contains no statutory requirement that the speech place a person in reasonable fear of harm to person or property or harm to the person or property of a third person in order for the speech to constitute a crime. RCW 9.61.260(1)(a)-(b). Unlike the malicious harassment statute, the cyberstalking statute criminalizes speech.

The other authorities the Court of Appeals cited do not support its holding that the cyberstalking statute regulates only conduct and not speech. Virginia v. Black<sup>5</sup> upheld a Virginia law when it determined that the law only prohibited true threats. State v. Dyson<sup>6</sup> analyzed only private telephone communications, not all private and public electronic communications (let alone public fora as vast as those available on social media, television, the radio, and other electronic means).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 538 U.S. 343, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 535 (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 74 Wn. App. 237, 872 P.2d 1115 (1994).

The Court of Appeals misunderstood and misapplied precedent in concluding that the cyberstalking statute regulated only conduct, not speech. This important constitutional question should be considered by Washington's high court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3).

c. Even if the statute's restrictions on types of speech were somehow content-neutral, the restrictions are not narrowly tailored to serve a compelling government interest

Even if the cyberstalking statute's restrictions on certain speech were somehow content-neutral,<sup>7</sup> its restriction on speech is not narrowly tailored to serve compelling government interests of protecting individuals from harassment or protecting the right to privacy. Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution requires that content-neutral restrictions be narrowly tailored to serve a compelling government interest. Bering v. SHARE, 106 Wn.2d 212, 234, 721 P.2d 918 (1986). The United States Supreme Court has suggested that "clear and present danger' is an appropriate guide in determining the constitutionality of restrictions upon expression where the substantive evil sought to be prevented by the restriction is 'destruction of life or property, or invasion of the right of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Mireles argues in his opening brief, his reply brief, his supplemental brief, and his motion to reconsider that the cyberstalking statute's speech regulations are content-based and not content-neutral, and therefore subject to a strict scrutiny standard which the cyberstalking statute cannot satisfy. Br. of Appellant at 36-38; Br. in Reply at 4; Supp. Br. of Appellant at 3-5, 9; Mot. for Reconsideration at 5-6. He will not repeat these arguments here, though he maintains his position.

privacy." <u>Bridges v. California.</u>, 314 U.S. 252, 262, 62 S. Ct. 190, 86 L. Ed. 192 (1941) (quoting <u>Thornhill v. Alabama</u>, 310 U.S. 88, 105, 60 S. Ct. 736, 84 L. Ed. 1093 (1940)). This "clear and present danger" test—whether the speech restricted is likely to produce an imminent lawlessness—was adopted by the Washington Supreme Court in <u>Williams</u>, 144 Wn.2d at 210.

The state has not met its burden to show that this sweeping statute is necessary or legitimate to protect individuals from a clear and present danger. See Packingham v. North Carolina, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1730, 1737, 198 L. Ed. 2d 273 (2017). The cyberstalking statute burdens noncriminal indecent, lewd, repetitive, anonymous, and even suggestive speech made with caustic intent without regard to its likelihood to produce imminent lawlessness. RCW 9.61.260(1)(a), (b). The statute is also guite literally not *necessary* to protect individuals from harassment or privacy violations: specific, narrowly tailored statutes do that already without burdening more speech than necessary. See, e.g., RCW 9A.46.020 (harassment); RCW 9A.36.080 (malicious harassment); RCW 9A.86.010 (disclosing intimate images); RCW 9.61.160 (threats to bomb or injure property); RCW 9.73.030 (intercepting, recording, or divulging private communication); 18 U.S.C. § 875(c) (making it a federal crime to transmit any communication in interstate or foreign commerce containing a threat to injure the person of another).

In the public form, individuals "must tolerate insulting, and even outrageous, speech in order to provide adequate breathing space to the freedoms protected by the First Amendment." Schneck v. Pro-Choice Network of W. New York, 519 U.S. 357, 373, 117 S. Ct. 855, 865, 137 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1997) (quoting Boos v. Barry, 485 U.S. 312, 322, 108 S. Ct. 1157, 99 L. Ed. 2d 333) (1988)). Unlawful harassment and impermissible invasions of personal privacy are prohibited by more carefully narrowly tailored laws; the additional communication the cyberstalking statute regulates is largely protected speech. RCW 9.61.260(1)(a), (b). This overbroad and invalid criminalization of protected speech runs contrary to longstanding and well established First Amendment principles. The state has shown neither that the cyberstalking statute is necessary to promote a compelling government interest nor that the statute is narrowly tailored to achieve that purpose.

While the decision of the Court of Appeals acknowledges that content-neutral regulations of public speech must be narrowly tailored to serve a compelling government interest, it does not explain how the cyberstalking statute meets this standard. Appendix A at 6, 10. The Court of Appeals decision presents a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United States Constitution, which should be reviewed pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3).

### 3. WHETHER RCW 9.61.260 IMPERMISSIBLY CRIMINALIZES PROTECTED SPEECH PRESENTS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

The Washington Supreme Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest: what electronic speech may the state regulate and criminalize? This question presents an issue of substantial and increasing public interest. The Washington Supreme Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of

the Supreme Court. The constitutionality of RCW 9.61.260 presents a

significant constitutional question implicating both state and federal

constitutions and is an issue of substantial public interest. Mr. Mireles asks

the Washington Supreme Court to grant review and reverse the Court of

Appeals.

DATED this 24th day of May, 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC

KEVIN A. MARCH, WSBA No. 45397

LUCIE R. BERNHEIM, WSBA No. 45925

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Petitioner