FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/30/2021 12:56 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 99809-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RICARDO MIRELES JR.,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

A.	<u>ISSUE</u> 1
B.	<u>ARGUMENT</u> 1
C.	CONCLUSION9

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases

Page

Washington State:

<u>State v. Mireles</u> , 16 Wn. App. 2d 641, 482 P.3d 942 (2021)	
<u>State v. Williams</u> , 144 Wn.2d 197, 26 P.3d 890 (2001)	

Rules and Regulations

Washington State:

AP 13.4

A. <u>ISSUE</u>

Ricardo Mireles Jr. has petitioned this Court for review of the Court of Appeals decision in his case, claiming that the analysis of the appellate court conflicts with a decision of this Court, with decisions from the United States Supreme Court, and is an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. for Review, at 1-13. The State did not file an answer to the petition. This Court has asked the State to "address[] the portion of the Court of Appeals opinion striking down the 'embarrass' prong of the cyberstalking statute."

B. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Mireles first argues that the decision below conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>State v. Williams</u>, 144 Wn.2d 197, 202, 26 P.3d 890 (2001), in which this Court held that the harassment statute was overbroad since it prohibited speech that threatened a person's "mental health," a term that was undefined in the statute. It is difficult to tell, however, where the conflict lies. <u>Williams</u> invalidated a statute that criminalized threats to "mental health," because that term was vague, undefined, and thus prohibited too much potentially protected speech. The Court of Appeals opinion here, likewise, invalidated the "embarrass" prong of the cyberstalking statute because that term swept a substantial amount of protected speech within its reach. <u>State v. Mireles</u>, 16 Wn. App. 2d 641, 654-55, 482 P.3d 942 (2021). The actual holdings of the decisions seem in harmony, not dissonance.

Mireles seems to argue that "to the extent that [the cyberstalking statute] is a content-based regulation ... the Court of Appeals holding ...[is] ... in conflict with" <u>Williams</u>. But the Court of Appeals decision is not "content-based" as Mireles claims. The Court of Appeals did not hold, as Mireles seems to suggest, that all language in a statute is permissible if the statute has an element of scienter. Pet. at 4-5. The Court held simply that most of the cyberstalking statute was constitutional because it requires scienter, but the "embarrass" portion was not constitutional because it swept in too much protected speech.

The holding of <u>Mireles</u> does not seem in conflict with the holding in <u>Williams</u>. Review is unwarranted on this basis.

Second, Mireles argues that the decision below conflicts with United States Supreme Court authority because it fails to strike down a statute that criminalizes "unpleasant speech" made with a "caustic intent." Pet. at 5-6. This is not a fair characterization of the decision of the Court of Appeals. The lower court carefully analyzed precedent from this Court and the Supreme Court and held that the cyberstalking statute criminalized conduct, not speech, in much the same way as the harassment and telephone harassment statutes and, thus, was constitutional. Mireles, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 652. The manner of communication – through electronic means rather than over a telephone or in person – was simply not constitutionally significant when the communication occurred in a private forum. Id. The manner of communication was significant, however, when the communication was in a public forum, meaning that the "embarrass" prong did not survive a challenge

because embarrassing people in a public forum should not be criminalized. <u>Mireles</u>, at 652. These holdings are fully supported by precedent from this Court and the Supreme Court. Mireles fails to explain how the holdings conflict with such authority. His allegations do not accurately summarize the holding of the court below and are conclusory. They do not supply a basis to grant review.

Third, Mireles asserts that "the cyberstalking statute criminalizes a person communicating in a public or private electronic forum in a lewd way, in an indecent way, in a way that suggests lewd or indecent acts, or in an anonymous or repeated way, as long as the speaker has a caustic intent toward another." Pet. at 8. It is unclear how this assertion is materially different from the last. But, again, this assertion is not a fair characterization of the opinion below, and it fails to account for the plain language of the statute and, thus, overstates the scope of the prohibition. The opinion recognizes the distinctions between conduct and speech as well as the distinctions between private and public forums, and it appropriately recognizes that as long as a statute includes an element of scienter – an intent to harass or intimidate – it may be regulated in a private forum more than in a public one.

RCW 9.61.260 regulates speech in the public forum because it criminalizes "electronic communications," which includes internet-based communications made "with intent to harass, intimidate, torment, or embarrass." In <u>Dyson</u> we evaluated a similar statute in a private forum. 74 Wash. App. 237. We determined that "making telephone calls with the intent to harass, intimidate, or torment another while using lewd, lascivious, profane, indecent, or obscene words or language, or suggesting the commission of any lewd or lascivious act" was conduct implicating speech, rather than speech itself. 74 Wash. App. at 243. Because the statute required a specific intent, we concluded that the impact on speech was insubstantial. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, the statute was not overbroad.

We did so in reliance on <u>Talley</u>, which had considered an overbreadth challenge to the malicious harassment statute under public forum standards. <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Talley</u>, 122 Wn.2d at 198). There, the Supreme Court considered language that criminalized certain speech made with intent to harass, that mirrors the operative language here. <u>Talley</u>, 122 Wn.2d at 198, 202. It noted specifically that "a person is free ... to make his or her odious or bigoted thoughts known to the world so long as those words do not cross the boundary into criminal harassment." Id. at 211. Such criminal harassment, the court noted, was conduct, not speech. Id. at 210-11.

In <u>Virginia v. Black</u>, 538 U.S. 343, 362, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 535 (2003), the Supreme Court reached a similar conclusion. It upheld a Virginia law banning cross burning on another's property or any public place "with 'an intent to intimidate." "<u>Id</u>. at 348. It held that a mens rea of evil intent rendered otherwise protected speech unprotected by the First Amendment. <u>See id</u>. at 362, 365 (cross burning may be proscribed with intent to intimidate, but cross burning without additional proof of the requisite intent may not).

We conclude that the intent requirement of the cyberstalking statute sufficiently limits the statutes reach to conduct. It punishes not the content of speech, but rather the selection of a victim and directing the speech in such a way as to cause a specific harm to them. See Talley, 122 Wn.2d at 205-06. Under these cases, the harm from harassment and intimidation have been significant enough harm to warrant government regulation. See id. at 210-11; Black, 538 U.S. at 362; Dyson, 74 Wn. App. at 244 (prohibiting harassment is not prohibiting speech). While none of the cases specifically considered the "intent to torment" in their overbreadth analysis, the outcome would be the same. The intent is the same. The selection of the victim is the same. The harm is at least as great as that of harassment or intimidation.

Mireles, at 653-54 (footnote omitted). Mireles seemingly

ignores this analysis in his petition. His conclusory allegations

do not establish any conflict between the decision below and Supreme Court authority.

Fourth, Mireles argues that the statute is not narrowly tailored to protect a compelling government interest. Pet. at 9-11. But as should be clear from the section quoted above, this Court has consistently held that protecting people from words designed to harass and intimidate is a compelling state interest, and the decision below recites that line of authority and reasoning. This argument does not provide a basis to grant review.

Finally, Mireles argues that the decision below presents an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 12. He is mistaken. As to the constitutionality of the statute generally, the decision below breaks no new ground, it is firmly rooted in jurisprudence from this Court and the Supreme Court. Although the regulation of speech is a significant issue, this case does not change that regulation in a manner that should draw interest.

The decision is novel only insofar as it holds that an intent to "embarrass" someone in a public forum may not be deemed criminal. Mireles, at 654-55. The court then severed that provision from the remaining parts of the statute to preserve the rest of the statute. Id. at 655. This holding is unremarkable. It preserves the portions of the statute that are like previously recognized constitutional limits, but it strikes the novel and further-reaching portion of the statute. To the knowledge of below-signed counsel, few if any prosecutions have been pursued based solely on the "embarrass" prong of this statute, so any real impact on Washington prosecutions is more theoretical than real. And because embarrassment is a lesser harm than harassment, intimidation, or threating physical harm, severing that prong from the statute will not create a public safety issue.

C. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all these reasons, Mireles has not met the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) and the State respectfully asks this Court to deny review.

This document contains 1,677 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 30th day of September, 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By: <u>JAMES M. WHISMAN, WSBA #19109</u>

JAMES M. WHISMAN, WSBA #19109 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

September 30, 2021 - 12:56 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court:	Supreme Court
Appellate Court Case Number:	99809-4
Appellate Court Case Title:	State of Washington v. Ricardo Mireles Jr.

The following documents have been uploaded:

998094_Answer_Reply_20210930123100SC489144_0860.pdf
 This File Contains:
 Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review
 The Original File Name was 99809-4 ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- MarchK@nwattorney.net
- Sloanej@nwattorney.net
- cdjamalov@kingcounty.gov
- dennis.mccurdy@kingcounty.gov
- lrbernheim@gmail.com
- lucie@luciebernheimlaw.com

Comments:

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov Filing on Behalf of: James Morrissey Whisman - Email: Jim.Whisman@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email:)

Address: King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20210930123100SC489144